RECEIVED

04-21-2015

STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALCERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

District I

Case No. 2015AP000522 CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

vs.

ENNIS BROWN,

Defendant-Appellant

ON APPEAL TO REVIEW THE JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED ON OCTOBER 23, 2013, AND THE DECISION AND ORDER DENYING MOTION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED ON MARCH 4, 2015, THE HONORABLE DAVID BOROWSKI PRESIDING ON BOTH, BOTH ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY.

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF THE APPELLANT

MARK S. ROSEN ROSEN AND HOLZMAN 400 W. MORELAND BLVD., SUITE C WAUKESHA, WI 53188

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

ISSUES PRESENTED

I. Whether the trial court had erred in denying Defendant's pretrial Motion to Dismiss for Violation of Speedy Trial when Defendant's Circumstances met all of the Legal Requirements for Dismissal under the Relevant and Applicable United States Supreme Court and Wisconsin case law?

_____Trial Court Answered: No.

I. Whether the trial court had erred in denying Defendant's Motion for Postconviction Relief alleging that the trial court had clearly erred in allowing Defendant to proceed pro se when the facts and circumstances at the trial level proceedings, to include a psychological report, clearly indicated that Defendant was not competent to proceed pro se?

Trial Court Answered: No.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

This Appeal involves issues of law which are not settled. Arguments need to be presented in more detail in oral argument. Therefore, oral argument and publication are requested.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Mr. Ennis Brown was charged in a nine Count Criminal Complaint dated July 30, 2012. The nine Counts charged Defendant with three Counts of Second Degree Sexual Assault, contrary to Wis. Stats. 940.225(2)(a), and 939.50(3)c; two Counts of Incest of a Child, contrary to Wis. Stats. 948.06(1) and 939.50(3)c; one Count of Kidnapping, contrary to Wis. Stats. 940.31(1)(a), and 939.50(3)c; one Count of Child Enticement, contrary to Wis. Stats. 948.07(3) and 939.50(3)(d), one Count of Exposing Genitals or Pubic Area, contrary to Wis. Stats. 948.10(1) and (1)(a) and 939.50(3)(i); and finally one Count of Attempt Kidnapping (Carries Forcibly), Use of

a Dangerous Weapon, contrary to Wis. Stats. 940.31(1)(a), 939.50(3)c, 939.32, and 939.63(1)(b). The charges alleged that the Defendant had sexually and physically abused his daughter, AB, between the dates of May 23, 2012 and May 27,2012. Defendant faced a total of two hundred and ninety three years and six months. (2:1-6).

On August 10, 2012, a preliminary hearing began. However, prior to the hearing, the State filed an Amended Criminal Complaint. This Count was a forty two Count Criminal Complaint. The first nine Counts were the same nine Counts as charged in the original Criminal Complaint. These were the same nine Counts that alleged that Defendant had sexually and physically abused his daughter, AB. However, the remaining thirty three Counts alleged numerous Counts of Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child, Incest with a Child, Incest of a Child, First Degree Sexual Assault of a Child, Kidnapping, Child Enticement, Attempt First Degree Sexual Assault of a Child (Contact), Attempt Incest with a Child, Physical Abuse of a Child, False Imprisonment, and Incest. The charges alleged that Defendant had, over a period of several years, physically and sexually abused not only his daughter AB, but his other daughters BYB, ELB, KDB, and BNB. The additional charges totaled over eleven hundred years of exposure above the original almost three hundred years in the initial Criminal Complaint. (5:1-20).

At the August 10, 2012 portion of the preliminary hearing, the only witness that testified for the State was AB. (96:11). Attorney Michael Hicks represented him at the preliminary hearing.

The preliminary hearing continued on August 24, 2012. At that time, three additional witnesses testified. After the hearing, the trial court found probable cause and bound Defendant over for trial. Trial counsel had indicated that Defendant wanted to make a Speedy Trial Demand. (97:39-40). Once again, Michael Hicks was Defendant's attorney.

On September 5, 2012, the trial court, Honorable David Borowski presiding, conducted an arraignment hearing. At that time, Defendant entered not guilty pleas to all forty two Counts of the Information. Furthermore, Defendant entered a Speedy Trial Demand on that date. (98:3-4). The Information contained the same forty two Counts as in the Amended Criminal Complaint. The State had filed the Information on September 4, 2012. (6:1-9).

A final pretrial hearing occurred on November 30, 2012, Michael Hicks continued to represent the Defendant. At that time, the trial court had adjourned the trial date. The trial court had indicated that it was complex due to the number of victims and the number of counts. (99:14).

Eventually, the trial court conducted a status hearing on defense counsel's representation of Defendant. Michael Hicks once again appeared for the Defendant. This hearing occurred on March

29, 2013. The trial court appointed a new attorney for Defendant. (100:7).

On May 14, 2013, the new attorney, Michael Plaisted, made a motion to withdraw as counsel. The trial court allowed attorney Plaisted to withdraw. (102:10-11). Defendant never requested that the trial court remove Mr. Plaisted.

On June 14, 2013, Nathan Opland-Dobbs appeared on behalf of the Defendant at a status hearing. This was Mr. Opland-Dobbs' first appearance. At that time, Mr. Dobbs indicated that Defendant wanted him to withdraw and wanted to represent himself. (103:3). On that date, the trial court took Mr. Opland-Dobbs withdrawal motion under advisement. The court indicated that it might eventually allow Defendant to represent himself. However, the trial court ordered a competency evaluation. (103:13-14).

On June 26, 2013, Dr. John Pankiewicz from the forensic unit prepared a competency evaluation report.(18:1-4).

On June 28, 2013, the trial court conducted another status hearing. The court concluded that Defendant was competent to stand trial and assist his counsel, nothing more. The court adjourned the matter for another status hearing after Defendant had been removed from the courtroom. (104:3, 6).

On July 15, 2013, another status conference occurred. The trial court indicated that it would take the proceedings under advisement, but that Defendant would have standby counsel.

(105:23).

Two days later, on July 17, 2013, the trial court allowed Mr. Opland-Dobbs to withdraw and Defendant to represent himself. The court appointed Scott Anderson as standby counsel. (106:3-5).

On August 13, 2013, Defendant, through his standby counsel, filed a Notice of Motion and Motion to Dismiss - Violation of Right to Speedy Trial (henceforth "Motion to Dismiss"). (22:1-13).

The court had a Motion hearing on August 14, 2013. The trial court indicated that it was taking Defendant's Motion to Dismiss under advisement. The trial court adjourned the hearing until September 13, 2013. It ordered that the October 7, 2013 trial date stand. (107:16).

On September 11, 2013, Defendant filed a two page Supplemental Brief in Support of his Motion to Dismiss. (23:1-2). The State filed a letter concerning the Motion on September 13, 2013. (24:1).

On September 13, 2013, the trial court conducted a Motion hearing on Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. At that time, Thomas Reed, regional attorney manager for the Milwaukee Trial Division of the State Public Defender's office as well as Keith Sellen from the Office of Lawyer Regulation testified.

The Motion hearing continued on September 16, 2013. Mr. Sellen continued to testify.

On September 16, 2013, the trial court orally denied Defendant's Motion to Dismiss. (109:12-26; A 114-128).

On September 30, 2013, the trial court conducted a final pretrial hearing. The court had concerns about the Defendant's behavior. (110:5-6). On that date, the State also indicated that it had concerns about Defendant's behavior, based upon his prior history in court, resulting in him being removed from court. (110:6-8). The trial court ordered a second competency evaluation, with a request that the evaluating doctor also evaluate the Defendant for competence to proceed pro se. The trial court adjourned the hearing. (110:18-19).

On October 2, 2013, Dr. Pankiewicz prepared a second competency report. The doctor had concerns about Defendant's ability to represent himself. Also, the doctor found Defendant competent to stand trial and was not suffering from a mental disease or defect, in that report. (29:1-4).

On October 4, 2013, the trial court conducted one final pretrial hearing. The trial court discussed Dr. Pankiewicz's competency report. The court read the doctor's analysis about Defendant's ability to represent himself, as discussed in the preceding paragraphs of this Motion. The court found Defendant competent to stand trial. Also, after a colloquy, the trial court allowed Defendant to proceed pro se at trial with Scott Anderson as standby counsel. (111:31, 34-35).

Jury trial commenced on October 7, 2013. After multiple issues, such as the Defendant allegedly bullying his children while they

were testifying, Judge Borowski removed Defendant's right to represent himself pro se. Eventually, the trial court removed the Defendant from the trial altogether. Scott Anderson represented the Defendant partially through the trial. Defendant was convicted of multiple Counts in the Information. Judge Borowski eventually sentenced him to approximately one hundred and fifty years of initial confinement. (49:1-8; A 106-113).

On January 15, 2015, Defendant filed his Motion for Postconviction Relief. By this Motion, he had argued that the trial court had clearly erred in allowing him to proceed pro se. He had argued that he was not legally competent to proceed pro se and that he should, therefore, be allowed a new jury trial. Defendant had attached Exhibits to this Motion. (82:1-71).

In response to Defendant's Postconviction Motion, the trial court issued an Order for briefing schedule dated January 16, 2015. (83:1). The State responded on February 19, 2015. (89:1-41). The Defendant submitted a Reply Brief on February 27, 2015. (90:1-10).

On March 4, 2015, the trial court had issued a three page written Decision and Order Denying Defendant's Postconviction Motion. (91:1-3; A 129-131).

Defendant filed his Notice of Appeal in a timely fashion. (92:1-12). This Appeal now follows. Defendant is filing his Appellant's Brief according to the schedule issued by the Court.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Mr. Ennis Brown was charged in a nine Count Criminal Complaint dated July 30, 2012. The nine Counts charged Defendant with three Counts of Second Degree Sexual Assault, contrary to Wis. Stats. 940.225(2)(a), and 939.50(3)c; two Counts of Incest of a Child, contrary to Wis. Stats. 948.06(1) and 939.50(3)c; one Count of Kidnapping, contrary to Wis. Stats. 940.31(1)(a), and 939.50(3)c; one Count of Child Enticement, contrary to Wis. Stats. 948.07(3) and 939.50(3)(d), one Count of Exposing Genitals or Pubic Area, contrary to Wis. Stats. 948.10(1) and (1)(a) and 939.50(3)(i); and finally one Count of Attempt Kidnapping (Carries Forcibly), Use of Dangerous Weapon, contrary to Wis. Stats. 940.31(1)(a), а 939.50(3)c, 939.32, and 939.63(1)(b). The charges alleged that the Defendant had sexually and physically abused his daughter, AB, between the dates of May 23, 2012 and May 27,2012. Defendant faced a total of two hundred and ninety three years and six months. (2:1-6).

On August 10, 2012, a preliminary hearing began. However, prior to the hearing, the State filed an Amended Criminal Complaint. This Count was a forty two Count Criminal Complaint. The first nine Counts were the same nine Counts as charged in the original Criminal Complaint. These were the same nine Counts that alleged that Defendant had sexually and physically abused his daughter, AB. However, the remaining thirty three Counts alleged

numerous Counts of Second Degree Sexual Assault of a Child, Incest with a Child, Incest of a Child, First Degree Sexual Assault of a Child, Kidnapping, Child Enticement, Attempt First Degree Sexual Assault of a Child (Contact), Attempt Incest with a Child, Physical Abuse of a Child, False Imprisonment, and Incest. The charges alleged that Defendant had, over a period of several years, physically and sexually abused not only his daughter AB, but his other daughters BYB, ELB, KDB, and BNB. The additional charges totaled over eleven hundred years of exposure above the original almost three hundred years in the initial Criminal Complaint. (5:1-20).

At the August 10, 2012 portion of the preliminary hearing, the only witness that testified for the State was AB, one of Defendant's daughters. (96:11). Attorney Michael Hicks represented Defendant at the preliminary hearing.

The preliminary hearing continued on August 24, 2012. At that time, three additional witnesses testified. These were Kevin Armbruster, Cindy Cartson, and Angela Phillips, in that order. The first witness was a detective with the Milwaukee Police Department Sensitive Crimes Unit. The last two witnesses were Milwaukee Police Officers, also with the Sensitive Crimes Unit. These three individuals testified as to hearsay statements provided by BYB, EB, and KDB, respectively. These were Defendant's other children. After the hearing, the trial court found probable cause and bound

Defendant over for trial. Trial counsel had indicated that Defendant wanted to make a Speedy Trial Demand. (97:39-40). Once again, Michael Hicks was Defendant's attorney.

On September 5, 2012, the trial court, Honorable David Borowski presiding, conducted an arraignment hearing. At that time, Defendant entered not guilty pleas to all forty two Counts of the Information. Furthermore, Defendant entered a Speedy Trial Demand on that date. (98:3-4). The Information contained the same forty two Counts as in the Amended Criminal Complaint. The State had filed the Information on September 4, 2012. (6:1-9).

A final pretrial hearing occurred on November 30, 2012, Michael Hicks continued to represent the Defendant. Defendant had indicated that his attorney had not visited with him. (99:3). Trial counsel requested the tolling of Defendant's Speedy trial. However, Defendant himself still wanted the Speedy trial. (99:6, 8). At that time, the trial court had adjourned the trial date. The trial court had indicated that it was complex due to the number of victims and the number of counts. (99:14). This, even though the victims were all family members and the counts overlapped factually.

On November 30, 2012, Defendant had indicated that he still wanted to proceed with the trial. He indicated that he could not live in jail. The trial court's response was that he should post the \$200,000 bail. Defendant wanted to proceed without trial counsel, which request the trial court denied. He again indicated

that his attorney does not even visit with him. Defendant became belligerent and accused everyone of conspiring against him. Due to his belligerence, the trial court had him removed from the courtroom. (99:15-16).

Eventually, the trial court conducted a status hearing on defense counsel's representation of Defendant. Michael Hicks once again appeared for the Defendant. This hearing occurred on March 29, 2013. At that time, Defendant repeatedly indicated that Hicks was not his attorney. The colloquy relevant to this present Motion went as follows:

THE DEFENDANT: He's not my attorney. He's not my attorney. He's not my attorney. He is not my attorney. I do not want that man for my attorney.

THE COURT: Mr. Brown, if you stop talking -

THE DEFENDANT: He is not my attorney. I do not want him for my attorney. No, this is a bunch of bullshit with no response. You know it's all lies. You know this is wrong.

THE COURT: If you stop talking -

THE DEFENDANT: No, you tooken everything from me. No, fuck you. Fuck all of you, you sorry sack of shit. You call yourself a regulator of law? No, you break the law. You sick son of a bitch. All of you sick motherfuckers. You break the law and then call yourself trying to pass justice on me. You motherfuckers don't even know. All you had to do is read the fucking report, you stupid son of a bitch. You sorry motherfuckers.

You can't hurt me. I don't give a fuck. <u>I tried to</u> <u>kill myself last night</u>. You ruined my life, and I want to die. Keep on pushing that button. You can't hurt me, boy. I already told you that. Now like I said fuck you. THE COURT: Here's the situation. The defendant -

THE DEFENDANT: You have no authority over me. You have nothing over me. All you think is have this body for the 2000 years that you people are trying to charge me with. That's it. But as far as everything else, suck my dick, you piece of shit.

THE COURT: Apparently, Mr. Brown is a little upset.

THE DEFENDANT: Apparently, my ass, you belligerent, ignorant asshole. How you fuck everybody else - how you turn around and push court dates back and screwing people over and play these fucking games and make these fucking kids sit in the jail all this time and make them accept pleas and shit. You can tase me all you want, son.

THE COURT: <u>Mr. Brown is actively resisting. He has</u> <u>about 8, actually 10 or 11 bailiffs around him. He is</u> <u>being wildly out of control. He's being belligerent. This</u> <u>started earlier this morning.</u>

THE DEFENDANT: ...then you bring me into court today out of the clear blue trying to tell me that this fucking asshole is my attorney. I got a grievance filed against him with the state bar. I even wrote you a letter to file. Then what did you do? You kept me locked in. You didn't let me come to court to do my motions or anything. Then you laughed at me last time I was here. You treat me like shit. You laughed at me. I was begging. You laughed at me.

THE COURT: Mr. Brown -

THE DEFENDANT: You laughed at me, man. Fuck you and fuck all of you. I don't give a fuck. You ruined my life, you piece of shit.

THE COURT: <u>Mr. Brown started this incident when he</u> <u>started yelling and screaming and swearing at his</u> attorney.

THE DEFENDANT: I'm going to keep on going until I'm out of this courtroom. I do not recognize your authority. You have no authority over me. Neither you or Mr. Hicks or this lady over here have any authority over me at all. THE COURT: The defendant started this by <u>swearing at</u> <u>Mr. Hicks, and then he spit at Mr. Hicks. He's in</u> <u>multiple restraints. He's in a spit mask. And in my 10</u> years on the bench, I've never - and I've seen it all.

THE DEFENDANT: And your 10 years on the bench you've always been an asshole. Just like you and your baby mother are turning around trying people and their cases. Yeah, your baby mother is the Attorney Ann Bowe, right? Ann Bowe, is that your baby mother? Lady clerk, are you the baby mother?

THE COURT: <u>Mr. Brown, you're operating under some</u> <u>misconceptions.</u>...

...I'm allowing Mr. Hicks to withdraw.

THE DEFENDANT: I'll be dead before you see me again.

THE COURT: ... The defendant spit on Mr. Hicks. As I said in all my years of doing this, this defendant is more out of control than anyone I've ever seen. He's in active restraints. My court reporter took down all the yelling, swearing, belligerence, 10 or 12 deputies holding him down. ...

...he's the baddest, worst bail risk I've seen in all my time as an attorney and a judge.... I do not want him out of custody. He's a danger to all the people he has allegedly assaulted. He's made active threats now to the DA, Mr. Hicks and the Court.

THE DEFENDANT: Did anybody hear me threaten somebody; who did I threaten?

• • •

THE DEFENDANT: Everything you people say is a bunch of lies. You forget, so I tell you what. <u>I would like to</u> <u>see if you can explain why I tried to kill myself over</u> <u>that. You know I tried to kill myself twice, right? Like</u> <u>I said you ruined my fucking life and I will again.</u>

•••

THE DEFENDANT: We have nothing to discuss. Fuck you. Tase me, hit me. Come on, tase me. I don't want a new date. Last time I was in here they laughed at me and treated me like shit, took away my rights. I don't want to talk to you no more. (100:3-8). Clearly, on March 29, 2013, Defendant was out of control, suicidal, had spit on his attorney, highly disrespectful to the court and his counsel. He had spat on his counsel. He had exhibited signs of delusion by his accusations that Ann Bowe, and then the court clerk, had been the trial court's "baby mothers." The trial court appointed a new attorney for Defendant.

Furthermore, on March 29, 2013, Defendant had indicated that he had filed a grievance against Mr. Hicks.

On May 14, 2013, the new attorney, Michael Plaisted, made a motion to withdraw as counsel. He had indicated that Defendant wanted him to file frivolous motions.

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