### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

05-27-2015

## COURT OF APPEALS CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case No. 2015AP522-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

ENNIS LEE BROWN,

Defendant-Appellant.

# APPEAL FROM A JUDGMENT AND ORDER OF THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, DAVID BOROWSKI, JUDGE

#### BRIEF FOR PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Attorney General

THOMAS J. BALISTRERI Assistant Attorney General State Bar #1009785

Attorneys for Plaintiff-Respondent

Wisconsin Department of Justice Post Office Box 7857 Madison, Wisconsin 53707-7857 (608) 266-1523 (608) 266-9594 (Fax) balistreritj@doj.state.wi.us

###

#### **ARGUMENT**

## I. Brown was not denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial.

An inquiry into the possible denial of a criminal defendant's constitutional right to a speedy trial may be triggered by a delay between his arrest and his trial that approaches a year in length. *State v. Urdahl*, 2005 WI App 191, ¶¶ 12, 15, 286 Wis. 2d 476, 704 N.W.2d 324.

In this case, there was a delay of about fourteen and one-half months, i.e., 438 days, between the time the defendant-appellant, Ennis Lee Brown, was arrested on or about July 26, 2012, and the time his trial started on October 7, 2013 (112), triggering the inquiry.

The next step in the process is determining who caused the delay. *State v. Williams*, 2004 WI App 56, ¶¶ 33-34, 270 Wis. 2d 761, 677 N.W.2d 691. Delay attributable to the state is counted in determining whether a speedy trial has been denied. *Williams*, 270 Wis. 2d 761, ¶ 34. Delay attributable to the defendant or to the ordinary demands of the judicial system is not counted in making this determination. *Williams*, 270 Wis. 2d 761, ¶¶ 34, 36.

Brown made his initial appearance on July 31, 2012 (94). Because of an intervening weekend and the need to draft a criminal complaint following a warrantless arrest (2), the initial appearance within three working days after Brown's arrest would appear to be within the "reasonable time" required by Wis. Stat. § 970.01(1) (2013-14), and should therefore be attributed to the ordinary demands of the judicial system.

Therefore, the five calendar days between Brown's arrest and initial appearance should not be counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied, reducing the period of chargeable delay to 433 days.

The preliminary hearing was commenced August 10, 2012, within ten days after the arraignment, as required by Wis. Stat. § 970.03(2) (2013-14). This period should also be attributed to the ordinary demands of the judicial system.

Therefore, the ten days between Brown's initial appearance and the commencement of the preliminary hearing should not be counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied, reducing the period of chargeable delay to 423 days.

The preliminary hearing had to be adjourned until August 24, 2012, because of the unavailability of some witnesses (95; 96:39-41; 97). The unavailability of witnesses is an intrinsic reason for delay so that the period of delay caused by their unavailability is not counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied. *Urdahl*, 286 Wis. 2d 476. ¶ 26.

Therefore, the fourteen days the preliminary hearing was adjourned reduces the period of chargeable delay to 409 days.

Brown was arraigned on September 5, 2012 (98), well within the thirty days allowed for the filing of an information and an arraignment on that information. Wis. Stats. §§ 971.01(2), 971.05(3) (2013-14). This period should also be attributed to the ordinary demands of the judicial system.

Therefore, the twelve days between Brown's preliminary hearing and arraignment should not be counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied, reducing the period of chargeable delay to 397 days.

At the arraignment, the trial was scheduled for December 5, 2012, which would have provided Brown a very speedy trial a little more than four months after his arrest (98:6).

Ordinarily, the entire ninety-one days between the arraignment and the scheduled trial date would be attributed to the ordinary demands of the judicial system, and therefore not counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied. However, Brown's attorney, Michael Hicks, was suspended from the practice of law, and therefore not able to represent Brown, from September 27, 2012, to October 16, 2012 (108:25, 28).

Any period in which the defendant is not represented by counsel through no fault of his own may be charged against the state if the gap resulted from the failure to appoint replacement counsel with dispatch or from a systematic breakdown in the public defender system. *Vermont v. Brillon*, 556 U.S. 81, 85 (2009).

But here, the public defender's office followed established procedures. When the public defender's office finds out that an appointed attorney has been suspended it determines whether the reason for the suspension is something that signals unfitness to practice or is simply some sort of noncompliance with some order or rule (108:33-34). The office then determines whether the lawyer is going to be unable to continue his representation or whether he will be able to resume his representation in a timely way (108:36-37). If the suspension is caused by noncompliance that can be remedied quickly, the public defender does not invoke the formal process that would be necessary to replace the attorney (108:34, 37).

In this case the public defender determined that there was no reason to appoint a different attorney for Brown because counsel remedied the compliance problem that got him

suspended, the temporary suspension was therefore brief, and counsel was already reinstated by the time any action could be taken (108:28-31, 39).

Therefore, none of the ninety-one days between the arraignment and the scheduled trial date should be counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied, reducing the period of chargeable delay to 306 days.

As of the final pretrial conference on November 30, 2012, the state was ready to proceed to trial on the scheduled December date (99:3-4, 9). But Brown's attorney asked for a last minute continuance, stating that he was not ready to proceed because of the complexity of the case (99:4-8). At counsel's request, the trial was rescheduled for May 5, 2013 (99:16).

Ordinarily, the entire 151 days of delay between the original trial date and the adjourned trial date would be attributed to the defendant. Despite Brown's personal objection to the continuance (99:15-16), a delay requested by the defendant's attorney, whether counsel is retained or appointed, is charged against the defense. *Brillon*, 556 U.S. at 90-93; *Urdahl*, 286 Wis. 2d 476, ¶ 29. *See State v. Wilkens*, 159 Wis. 2d 618, 624, 465 N.W.2d 206 (Ct. App. 1990) (tactical waiver by counsel binding on defendant). Even when appointed by the state, a lawyer who has undertaken representation of the defendant acts on behalf of the defendant, not the state, and is therefore not a state actor for the purpose of attributing delay. *Brillon*, 556 U.S. at 91-92.

But again the arithmetic is complicated by the fact that Brown's attorney, Hicks, was temporarily suspended during the period of the continuance from February 12, 2013, to March 11, 2013 (108:28). But again the public defender did not remove counsel from Brown's case because it determined that counsel would be able to promptly resolve his problem with

the Office of Lawyer Regulation and resume his representation, which he obviously did (108:32, 39).

Therefore, none of the 151 days between the original trial date and the adjourned trial date should be counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied, reducing the period of chargeable delay to 155 days.

At a status hearing held March 29, 2013, Brown indicated that he no longer wanted his current attorney, Hicks, to continue representing him (100:3-4). So the court allowed counsel to withdraw and directed the public defender to appoint a new attorney (100:7).

The new attorney, Michael Plaisted, made his first appearance on April 15, 2013 (101:2). Because new counsel could not be ready to try the case in three weeks, the trial was rescheduled to June 24, 2013 (101:3).

The delay caused by the defendant's dismissal of his attorney and the need to appoint a new one is attributed to the defendant. *Brillon*, 556 U.S. at 93-94. So the delay of fifty days between the first adjourned trial date and the second adjourned trial date should not be counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied, reducing the period of chargeable delay to 105 days.

Plaisted moved to withdraw because Brown wanted him to file frivolous motions (102:2, 5). Brown said that Plaisted could remain his attorney as long as Plaisted filed the motions he wanted Plaisted to file (102:4). But since Plaisted refused to file Brown's motions, Brown was in effect concurring in Plaisted's withdrawal as his attorney, as recognized by the circuit court (103:5).

However, Plaisted's withdrawal did not in and of itself necessitate any extension of the trial date, which remained set at June 24, 2013. Thus, Plaisted's withdrawal is not relevant in assessing responsibility for any delay.

At a status hearing on June 14, 2013, Brown asked to dismiss his next attorney, Nathan Opland-Dobs, and be allowed to represent himself (103:3). However, Brown was acting erratically so the court ordered a competency evaluation (103:14). The trial date was vacated, and the case was adjourned to June 28, 2013, for a competency hearing (103:16).

The delay of four days between the rescheduled trial date and the date of the competency hearing is attributed to the defendant because of his aggressive and disruptive behavior. *See Brillon*, 556 U.S. at 93-94. So this delay should not be counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied, reducing the period of chargeable delay to 101 days.

At the competency hearing Brown was disruptive again and had to be removed from the courtroom (104:3-5). The case was adjourned to July 15, 2013, for another status hearing (104:6).

The delay of seventeen days between the competency hearing and next status hearing, caused by Brown's disruptive behavior, should not be counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied, reducing the period of chargeable delay to eighty-four days.

At the hearing on July 15, 2013, Brown again insisted on representing himself (105:3). The circuit court acceded to Brown's demand at another hearing two days later (106:4). The trial was then set for October 7, 2013, when it finally commenced (106:8; 112).

The delay of eighty-four days between the hearing where Brown asked to proceed pro se and the date the trial started is attributable to Brown, and should not be counted in determining whether a speedy trial was denied, reducing the period of chargeable delay to zero.

Because none of the delay of Brown's trial can be attributed to the state, and because most of the delay must actually be attributed to Brown and his antics, there is no need to inquire into any other factors to assess whether there was a prejudicial delay of the trial. *Williams*, 270 Wis. 2d 761, ¶ 41. *See United States v. Ellis*, 622 F.3d 784, 791 (7th Cir. 2010) (quoting *Doggett v. United States*, 505 U.S. 647, 651 (1992)).

Indeed, even if nothing more than the 151 days of delay caused by the continuance expressly requested by Brown's counsel is considered, and even if the intervening month's suspension of counsel is deducted from this 151 days, leaving 121 days of delay attributable to the defense request, the period of chargeable delay drops to 317 days, significantly below the threshold of one year necessary to presume prejudice from the delay of a trial. *See Williams*, 270 Wis. 2d 761, ¶ 41.

Brown was not denied his constitutional right to a speedy trial.<sup>1</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Not that it actually matters since Brown's claim that he was denied a speedy trial is plainly untenable on the merits anyway, but as a footnote, Brown waived any right to argue on appeal that the "trial court had erred in denying Defendant's Motion to Dismiss Violation of a Right to a Speedy Trial," Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 44, by disavowing this motion, which had been filed by his standby attorney while he was representing himself (110:5; 111:6).

II. There is no reason to believe that Brown was not competent to exercise his constitutional right to represent himself at the start of his trial, although he forfeited that right by his misconduct after the trial commenced.

When a defendant who has a constitutional right to be represented by counsel wants to waive that right and invoke his competing constitutional right to represent himself, the circuit court must determine whether the defendant has knowingly, voluntarily and intelligently made the choice to represent himself and whether he is competent to proceed pro se. *State v. Marquardt*, 2005 WI 157, ¶ 56, 286 Wis. 2d 204, 705 N.W.2d 878.

Since persons of average intelligence and ability may be competent to represent themselves, and since technical legal knowledge is not required, the defendant's choice should ordinarily be honored unless there is an identifiable problem or disability that may prevent the defendant from making a meaningful defense. *Marquardt*, 286 Wis. 2d 204, ¶ 61; *State v. Ruszkiewicz*, 2000 WI App 125, ¶ 35, 237 Wis. 2d 441, 613 N.W.2d 893.

The issue on appeal when the defendant complains that the circuit court committed reversible error by honoring his choice is whether the record demonstrates an identifiable problem or disability that may have prevented the defendant from making a meaningful defense. *Dane County Dept. of Human Serv. v. Susan P.S.*, 2006 WI App 100, ¶ 23, 293 Wis. 2d 279, 715 N.W.2d 692. The circuit court's competency determination will be upheld on appeal unless it is totally unsupported by the facts in the record. *Ruszkiewicz*, 237 Wis. 2d 441, ¶ 38.

Brown attempts to identify his unruly, disruptive behavior as a problem that prevented him from making a meaningful defense. Brief for Defendant-Appellant at 46-47.

But although a court may terminate self-representation by a defendant who deliberately engages in seriously obstructive misconduct at the trial, *Faretta v. California*, 422 U.S. 806, 834 n.46 (1975); *State v. Haste*, 175 Wis. 2d 1, 25-26, 500 N.W.2d 678 (Ct. App. 1993), disruptive behavior prior to trial does not disqualify a defendant from representing himself at a trial he does not attempt to disrupt.

A defendant whose pretrial disruptive behavior was deliberate and intentional can decide that this kind of behavior is useless and even counterproductive at a trial, and can choose to behave himself in front of the jury to make the best impression he can to convince the jury to accept his defense. If the defendant makes the choice not to disrupt the trial, there is no reason to find that he is not competent to represent himself because of disruptive behavior that does not occur.

In *Faretta*, the Supreme Court was warned that many defendants representing themselves might deliberately disrupt their trials. *Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 834 n.46. But the Court indicated that this possibility would not prevent a defendant from exercising his traditional right to represent himself at the start of his trial, but could only result in a forfeiture of self-representation if he actually engaged in disruptive conduct during the trial. *See Faretta*, 422 U.S. at 834 n.46.

Therefore, prior deliberate and intentional disruptive conduct is not an identifiable problem or disability that may prevent the defendant from making a meaningful defense so as to disqualify the defendant from representing himself at the trial as long as the disruptive behavior is not repeated at the trial. However, in *Indiana v. Edwards*, 554 U.S. 164, 177-78 (2008), the United States Supreme Court concluded that

the Constitution permits judges to take realistic account of the particular defendant's mental capacities by asking whether a defendant who seeks to conduct his own defense at trial is mentally competent to do so. That is to say, the Constitution permits States to insist upon representation by counsel for those competent enough to stand trial under *Dusky* [v. United States, 362 U.S. 402 (1960)] but who still suffer from severe mental illness to the point where they are not competent to conduct trial proceedings themselves.

So if a defendant's disruptive behavior is not deliberate and intentional, but the manifestation of a mental illness that compels him to misbehave, it may be a disability that prevents him from making a meaningful defense and representing himself.

In this case, though, two mental competency examinations failed to discover any signs of actual mental illness that would prevent Brown from representing himself (18:3-4; 29:2-4). The second examination specifically included an assessment of Brown's disruptive behavior, and found that it was deliberate and intentional, and could not be linked to symptomatic mental illness (29:3-4; 111:4).

The circuit court observed itself at the trial that Brown's renewed disruption was intentional manipulative misbehavior (116:24; 117:73-75). The court found that Brown's outlandish theatrics were just an act, and were an intentional ploy designed to disrupt the proceedings (118:29; 119:14).

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